KURUMBRANAD TALUK.

By C. Kunhi Kannan.

Position. Boundaries, Soil and Area.—The Kurumbranad taluk is bounded on the north by the Kottayam taluk, on the east by the Wynad taluk, on the east by the Wynad taluk, on the south by the Calicut taluk, and on the west by the Arabian Sea. The soil of the interior is generally red and much impregnated with laterite, which gradually assumes a rich loam in parts cultivated with paddy, whilst towards the coast it is brown loose earth.

The Kurumbranad taluk comprises the old taluks of Kadattanad and Kurumbranad.

The area of the taluk, according to the census returns of 1881, is 538 square miles. This is only an approximate calculation as accurate figures are not available, the district not having been surveyed. Of this extent about 175,613 acres or about 274 square miles are under cultivation. The demand of land revenue for fasli 1295 (1885-86) was Rs. 2,13,565, giving an average of Rs. 14 nearly per acre of cultivated area.

Population.—The population of the taluk, inclusive of floating population as ascertained by the census of 1881, was, 261,024, being 129,394 males and 131,630 females. The population returned by the census of 1871 was 244,166. The population of 1881 may be classified as follows:—

Hindus					196,383
Muhammadans				• •	64,245
Christians	• •			• •	394
Others	• •	• •	• •		2
				Total	 261,024

which give an average of 485 persons per square mile.

Education is backward in the taluk as will appear from the fact that under the head of "instruction" the census returned 7,944, "instructed" 20,206, and "illiterate including not stated" 232.874 persons.

There were 56,471 houses (48,440 occupied and 8,031 unoccupied) in 1881 against 45,597 houses in 1871. The average number of persons per occupied house in 1881 was 5'4.

Division of Taluk for Administrative Purposes.—The taluk comprises 5 masams each with an adhikari on Rs. 5\frac{1}{4}, a menon on Rs. 6 and two peons on Rs. 3 each per mensem.

Prior to 1866 there were 63 amsams in the taluk, but in that year 6 amsams were transferred to the Calicut taluk. The names of these amsams will be found in the Note on the Calicut taluk.

The old Kadattanad taluk comprised 21 hobalis and the old Kurumbranad 10 hobalis. As already observed, these two taluks were amalgamated into the present Kurumbranad taluk.

Government Establishments of different kinds maintained in the taluk, and where located.—The taluk kacheri of Kurumbranad, including the Sub-jail and Police station, is at Badagara, where there is also a District Munsif's Court and a Sub-Registrar's office. The District Board maintain a middle school, a dispensary on a small scale, a travellers' bungalow and mussafer khana at Badagara,

There are two other District Munsife' Courts in the taluk, one at Nadapuram in Kummangod amasm, 9 miles north-east of Badagara, and the other at Payanad in Quilandi, 14 miles south of Badagara. There is a Deputy Tahaiidar's kacheri at Quilandi. There are Sub-Registrars at Nadapuram, Payoli, Quilandi, Naduvannur and Kuttiyadi. There are combined Post and Telegraph offices and Sea Customs offices at Badagara and Quilandi. There are Police stations at Chombal in Aliyur amsam, Nadapuram in Kummangod amsam. Badagara, Payoli in Iringatt amsam, Quilandi in Viyur amsam, Tiruvallur, Kuttiyadi, Perambra, Naduvannur and Ivad.

Short Descriptive Notices of Torms, etc.—There are no Municipal towns in Kurumbranad. Kadattanad is one of the ancient chieftainships (nada) into which Malabar was formerly divided. It stretches from the sea coast up the western declivity of the Western Ghats. The level tracts near the sea are very fertile. The eastern hilly parts are well wooded and contain indigenous cardamom plants. The petty State is said to have been founded in 1564 by a Nayar chief who inherited it in the male line from the Tekkelankur (southern regent) of the Kolattiri kingdom.

Radagara (Vadakkekara = the north bank) is the chief town in the taluk. According to the census of 1871, there were 1.037 houses with a population of 7,718 souls in Badagara amsam. At the census of 1881, there were 1.643 houses and a population of 8,336 persons. Of these 3.849 are Mappillas. Badagara is situated on the sea coast at the northern extremity of the Elattur-Badagara backwater and on the trunk mad from Calicut to Cannanore, 30 miles from the former and 12 miles south of Tellicherry. There is a fort at Badagara which originally belonged to the Kolattiri Rajas, and it is said to have been acquired by the Kadattanad Raja in 1564. On passing into the possession of the Mysoreans it was made the chief export customs station on the coast. In 1790 it was taken from Tippu by the English, and having been restored to the Kadattanad Raja, it was converted by him into a Brahman feeding-house, which was afterwards transferred to the Paravantala temple in Badagara amsam. The raja has since built a thatched house in the fort. The fort is 246 feet square with bastions at each corner, and immediately west of it is a tank 168 feet long and 144 feet broad.

Badagara is a straggling but busy Mappilla town with several irregular streets or lanes. On the beach there are several substantial store-houses. There is a Jamatt mosque here as well as minor mosques. The Jamatt mosque is 114 by 42 feet. In Paravantala desam in Badagara amsam is a well 66 feet in circumference and 42 feet deep. This well is said to have been jumped across by Tachcholi Odenan, the hero of a folk song noted in North Malabar.

In Badagara amsam. Paravantala desam, there is a temple dedicated to Subramanyan. It is 76 feet long and 56 feet broad. Attached to the temple is a tank 73 feet square. The temple, said to be an ancient institution, was renewed by the Kadattanad Raja about the year 1864. The roof of the shrine is covered with copper plates. The raja maintains a Brahman feeding-house here.

In Kuttipuram amsam. 10 miles to the north-east of Badagara, is the fortified palace of the Kadattanad Porlatiri Valiya Raja, and in Purameri amsam, 8 miles from Badagara, is the Porlatiri Ilaya Raja's house. The remaining two branches of the raja's family live in Ayancheri Koyilakam and Edavalatt Koyilakam in the same amsam.

Kottakkal, 3 miles south of Badagara, is a see customs sub-port subordinate to Badagara. It was once a large town inhabited by Mappillas. There is a mosque of some note on the southern bank of the river at Kottakkal. Kottakkal was formerly the stronghold of a Mappilla prize called Kunhali Marakkar, who committed depredations in the surrounding country which are described in a folk song. Hardly any vestice of the stronghold now remains.

The Secrifice Rock is opposite the Kottakkal sub-port in Lat. 11* 29* 45* N. Long, 75* 31 ½. bears 8. ½ E. from Tellicherry 5‡ leagues, and is distant 4‡ miles from the land opposite; it has a white aspect, 46 feet in height, and is discernible 3 and 3½ leagues from a large ship, the deck being elevated 15 or 20 feet above water. It is called Velliyan-kallu or the white or silvery stone by the natives of Malabar. This rock or island is steep all round, having 12 and 13 fathoms close to it, 16 fathoms within it, 10. 7 fathoms about midway between it and the mainland in a very good channel. Ships passing through the inside channel ought to give the point a berth of 3 miles by borrowing towards the rock; and in working should heave the lead quick, if they come under 6 fathoms standing in shore. Passing outside Sacrifice Rock in the night, ships should not come under 16 or 17

Nadapuram is a rising Mappilla town in Kummangod amsam 9 miles from Badagara. The amsam has a population of 5.328 souls. The recent establishment of a Munsif's Court has increased the importance of this place. There is a Jamatt mosque here, which is 104 by 33 feet in size.

At Kuttiyadi, which was once a strong military post, 17 miles from Badagara, there is an old redoubt as well as a small Mappilla village. The Kuttiyadi Ghat begins here. There is a Sub-Registrar's office and a Police station here. There is also a Jamatt mosque, 53 by 27 feet.

The Kuttiyadi Pase, in the Western Ghats, leads from Kurumbranad taluk into Wynad. It is steep and only practicable for foot-passengers and beasts of burden. The Kuttiyadi river is navigable from Badagara up to 30 miles. Large quantities of timber are floated down the river to Elattur in Calieut, and to Badagara.

In Ponmeri amsam, 5 miles from Badagara, is a Siva temple which is 1244 feet by 87 feet. It is sculptured. The roof of the ahrine is covered with copper. There is a grantic slab at the eastern entrance with an inscription in unknown characters. The temple is very old and was destroyed by Tippu's soldiers.

In Edacheri amsam, 5 miles from Badagara, is Vengoli temple in which Ganapati is worshipped. It is 70 by 53\[-1extrm{text} feet. The Kadattanad Rajamantanian 3 Brahman feeding-house here. Not far from the temple to the north there is a Bhagavati temple called Kaliyampalli temple. It is 97 feet long and 86 feet broad. There is an inscription on a slab in unknown characters.

In Muttungal amsam, Vellikulangara desam, 4 miles north of Badagara, there is a Siva temple, 54 by 41 feet. Outside the temple, there is a slab with inscription in an unknown language. At Karshkad in this ansam, there is a Muhama adam manusleam over the grave of one Siti Koya, who is alleged to have migrated to Malabar from Arabia about 200 years ago. The mausoleum is held in great veneration by Mappillas, who flock to it in large numbers from different parts and make offerings.

In Yelam amasın. 12 miles south-east of Badagara, there is a reservoir of fresh water locally known as Tura, which is 1.080 feet long by 218 feet wide. There is a similar Tura in Kutiyadi amasın, which is 684 feet by 72 feet with a depth averaging 22 feet. These are fabled to have been exenvated by the Pandus in pre-historic period.

Chombals in Aliyur amsam is a Basel Evangelical station. The mission was started there in 1849, and the number of church members in the colony on the 1st January 1885 were 309. There is a girls' orphanage here, which was transferred from Cannanore in 1872. A branch weaving establishment has existed here since 1883. There are three schools for boys and girls with an average attendance of about 200 pupils. The Chombals Mission has an out-station at Badagara and Muvaratt. The station at Quilandi, opened in 1857, is subordinate to the mission at Calieut. The congregation at Quilandi numbers 68.

In Melati amsam, 10 miles from Quilandi, there is a Siva temple hnown as Kilur, which has its shrine roofed with copper. The temple is 93 by 70 feet. In the month of Vrischikam (November-December), a festival is celebrated here with great pomp. During the festival an important extite market is held close to the temple over a large area. Divers other articles also find ready sale here on the occasion. More than 60,000 head of cattle are brought here from different parts of the district and Coimbatore, etc., and more than 10,000 people assemble during the festival.

Quilandi, the headquarters of the Deputy Tahsildar, is in Viyyur amsam. There are besides a District Munsif's Court, Sub-Registrar's office, Sea Customs office, a combined Post and Telegraph office, Police station, Subsidiary jail, travellers' bungalow and mussaferkhana at Quilandi. The opoulation of the amsam in 1871 was 10,367 and in 1881, 10,259. In 1881 there were 2,055 houses against 1,757 in 1871. Of the former, 1,752 were occupied and the rest unoccupied.

Quilandi was a large flourishing port and town, of which many substantial buildings remain. It had also the advantage of being in the neighbourhood of the Kollam mud bank resembling those at Alleppey and Narakkal. Towards the close of the last century, the port was suddenly destorved by a cyclone.

It was close to Quilandi (Capocate) that Vasco da Gama's fleet first cast anchor in 1498. Close to the seaport on the north is one of the nine original Muhammadan mosques established on the Maibair Coast by Malik Ibn Dinar. The mosque (recently renewed) is at Kollam, sometimes called northern or Pantalayini Kollam. This mosque appears to have been built in imitation of one at Mecca. The dome is covered with sheets of copper which Arab vesses passing down the coast never failed in former days to salute, and all Muhammadan seamen offered up prayers on coming abreast of it. There festivals are annually celebrated in the mosque. In Kollam, there is a Jamatt mosque in which there are three granties labs containing inscriptions.

In the town of Quilandi there is an old mosque 130 by 70 feet. It is very high, having three storeys. The Government have granted lands yielding annually Rs. 1,800 for the support of this mosque. A brief account of the circumstances of this endowment will not be uninteresting.

The mosque appears to have been founded in 1779 by Saiyid Abdulla Bin Saiyid Ahamad Hadi. In 1780 voluntary congacements were entered into by the Muhammadan and Hindu merchants of different villages in the by the Muhammadan and Hindu merchants of different villages in the tiffing fee upon each man's load or buildock load of merchandies which passed through their respective villages. A payment analogous to this was also in due course secured in Mahabra in behalf of this mosque. The above collection was continued until 1803 when Regulation XII of that year put a step to the practice.

In 1810, Saiyid Ali Hadi, the founder's son, brought to the notice of Government the difficulties experienced in regard to the up-keep of the mosque by the enforcement of Regulation XII. An enquiry was instituted into the matter in 1826 which eventully resulted in the grant of an allowance of Rs. 1,800 per annum, payable by monthly instalments, for the support of the mosque and establishment, and an additional payment down of Rs. 2,000 for repairing the mosque (G.O., dated 20th February 1828). The mosque was described by the Sub-Collector, Mr. Wheatley to be a magnificent structure affording accommodation to travellers and to a largely attended school where instruction was imparted to Muhammadan youths. It was also stated that pilgrims to Mecca and visitors from Arabia were entertained here. The Government consequently directed the allowance to be continued as long as the institution was kept up on a proper footing and found to be beneficial to that portion of the public which had been accustomed to resort to it for lodging, enter. tainment or religious purposes.

In their despatch of 15th June 1831, the Court of Directors approved the grant and the provise laid down for its continuance, and observed that what was intended was a degree of utility not altogether disproportionate to the allowance made. The Inam deed pertaining to this confirmed the grant to the present Inamdar for the purpose of the Inam as long as he continues to be loyal.

In 1841 Government withdraw from all connection with religious institutions, and in 1846 the Government accepted the Collector's proposal to make over to the Quilandi mesque as Sarvamanyam certain escheated farms in Ernad producing a net revenue of Rs. 1,800 per annum. In 1848, 199 pieces of paddy fields and nursery plots and 18 gardens measuring in all 306 casmics, 828 koles, and assessed at Rupess 1,176-10-1 with proprietor's share of Rs. 623-5-11 aggregating Rs. 1,800 were made over to the Inamdar. These lands lie in the amsams of Manjeri, Karakunnu, and Trikalaingod in Ernad taluk. The Inamdar now squeezes from his tenants more than Rs. 3,200 per annum.

A fostival is annually performed in the month of Ramullan on Mayath Kunnu (grave-yard hill) in Kollam. There are several ancient tombs on the hill, some of them with inscriptions.

In Kollam desam is the Vishari Kavu temple, dedicated to Bhagavati and Siva. The roof of the Bhagavati shrine is covered with copper. The temple is 93 by 84 feet. The Dears feetival is colebrated here with pomp in Kanni (September-Gotober), and in the month of Minam (March-April), a feetival takes place for 8 days which attracts many glarims and calls into being in its neighbourhood at Kannadikkal a fair for diverse articles aggregating in value about Rs. 10,001.

The temple possesses man lands in the ameans of Viyur, Mudadi Tituvangur, Arikkulam, Kilariyur and Melur, the revenue of which amounts to Rs. 343.

There is a tank 920 feet by 502 feet at Kollam

There are inscriptions in illegible characters in the miner temples of Maralur, Pantalayini and Talivil in Viyur.

In Edakkara amsam. 10 miles from Quilandi, there is a hill called Vallikkat-Mittal Kunnu crowned by a small shrine. There is a percunial flow of water from the top of the hill whole is considered to be tirtham or holy water and to which a large number of pilgrims flock in the month of Tulam (October-November). In Vehnr desam, Mankottaparamba, there is a hat-stone 36 feet in circumference on an upright stone about 3 feet high and 4 feet thick. There was a similar circular stone in the same compound which has fallen from its prop.

In the neighbourhood of these hat stones there is a stone-cut care with a central column and raised platforms on sides similar to these found elsewhere in the district.

Naduvannur is an important village and was the headquarters of the old Kurumbranad tahk. It has a population of 3,388 souls, of whom 2,616 are Hindus and 770 Muhammadans. There is a Nub-Registrar's office here as well as a Police station. There is also a travellers' bungalow. A market is held every Saturday.

In Karayad amsam, Tiruvangur desam, 6 miles from Quilandi, there is a Siva semple called Tiruvangur perched on a rock-hill called Kappa mala. There are sculptures in the temple. It is 109 feet by 63 feet. The Sivaratti festival is celebrated here annually in the month of Kumbham (Pebraay-Marchl.). On the morth and south of the temple as well as within the precincts of the temple, there are as many as may generate the stanks varying from 6 to 60 feet in circumference, exacavated on the top of the rocky hill which are never dried up. They are esteemed for ablutions. On a granite rock at the temple there is an inscription in unknown characters.

In Meppayur amsam, Eravattur desam, there are two ponds known as Narikkilapula and Tiyarapula. The former is 600 feet long and 90 feet broad and the latter is almost as broad. They are used for washing. A local legend imputes their exeavation to the Pandayas.

In Pompiri deeam of the same ameam is a garden called Kudakottiparamba, in which there is a hat-stone 30 feet in circumference supported by an upright column about 3 feet high and about 5 feet thick. The circular stone is a little damaged on one side. This is 9 miles north-east of Quilandi.

Payeli in Iringatt amsam is a rising town. The population of the amsam is 3,60% being 2,508 Hindus, 802 Muhammadans and 8 Christians. There is a Sub-Registrar's office at Payoli and a Police station as well as a travellers' bungalow on an eminence overlooking the river. A weekly market on every Monday is held here. There is a lock at Payoli on the canal which connects the Akalapula backwater with the Ruttyadi river, and thus provides an uninterrupted line of inland navigation from Elistur in Caliout to Badagares. Free are levied on boats passing the look. Payoli is 10 miles from Badagare and 11 from Quilandi.

The rivers of the taluk are-

- 1. The Kottakkal or Kuttiyadi river.
- 2. The Mahe or Mondole river.
- 3. The Naduvannur river.

A list of ferries in the taluk is subjoined :-

Second Class.

I. Murat kadavu.

Third Class.

- Kanayankod kadavu.
- 3. Puramannadi kadayu.
- 4. Nirattukuli kadavu.
- Chittani kadavu.
- 6. Kuniyott kadavu.
- 7. Muttunkal kadavu.
- 8. Kayippratt kadavu. 9. Puliyapula kadayu.
- 10. Perincheri kadavu.
- 11. Maniyan kadavu. 12. Pulakandi kadavu.
- Idinja kadavu.

- 14. Kotta kadavu.
 - 15 Chenthodi kadavu. 16. Thorasheri kadavu.
 - Akalapula kadavu.
- 18. Nelliyadi kadavu.
- 19. Naderi kadavu. 20. Annala kadavu.
- Ollur kadavu.
- 22. Thorava kadavu.
- 23. Chattanatt kadavu.
- Kunivil kadavu.

Pairs and Markets. - A weekly market is held at Badagara every Tuesday, at Nadapuram every Thursday, at Payoli every Monday, at Kokkallur, close to Iyad Police station, every Wednesday, at Naduvannur every Saturday.

Trigonometrical Survey Station .- There is a Trigonometrical survey station on Nadapuram hill in Kunnummal amsam, 16 miles from Badagara, as well as one on Puramala hill in Mutadi amsam, 5 miles from Quilandi.

Dams and Anicuts. - There is a dam at Palayad for the exclusion of salt water from the paddy cultivation lying above the dam. There is also a dam at Kattumpalli in Panangad amsam.

Ayyanikkad dam is an old one between Ulliveri and Arikkulam amsams. These dams are intended for the protection of cultivation and revenue.

Archaeology. - Reference has already been made to the rock-out cave and hat-stones in Edakkara amsam, and a hat-stone in Meppayur amsam.

In Muttadi amsam, Muchukunnu desam, in the valley of Valiyamala hill, there are two caves. One is large, being 66 feet long and 36 feet wide. At the western end of the cave is a circular pit 91 toles in circumference and 11 koles deep.

In Mulliped desam, Cheruvannur amsam, 9 miles south-cast of Badagara, there is a small rock-cut cave not yet excavated.

On the eastern side of the temple in Kaliyamvelli, in Edscheri amsam, 6 miles north north-east of Budayara, there are some inscriptions.

On the eastern side of the temple in Vellikulangars in Muttungal amsam, 4 miles north of Badagara, there are some inscriptions. There is an old fort in Eramala amsam

MAHE CCCXIX

An old Sive temple in Iringannur, 8 miles north-east of Badagara, is fabled to have been founded by a rishi.

There is a small rock-cut cave in Kolukkallur desam of Karayad amsam, 18 miles south-east of Badagara. There is an inscription on a granite rock at the temple of Tiruvangara.

Kavuntara, 12½ miles south-east of Badagara, 3 miles west of the bungalow at Naduvannur, there is a deserted ruined temple. Close to the temple in the vard of a house is a stone with an inscription said to be illegible, and there is another on one of the steps of the tank belonging to the temple.

Kilariyur is 15 miles south south-east of Badagara. There are two rock-cut caves here.

In the mosque at Kollam on the edge of the bath is a granite slab, broken, bearing an inscription in Vatteluttu characters. It is dated K.A. 684 (1508 A.D.).

Meppayur, 10 miles east south-cast of Badagara. In the grove attached to the Elavattara temple of Durga are some "sculptured images." A channel on the south side of the Malamangalam temple is fabled to have been excavated by the Pandavas and is said to contain treasure. In Kayalat are to be seen a dolmen and two menhirs, and in Kilapaliyur are a dolmen and five menhirs. In Pampiri desam are two stone circles already referred to. Funeral urns of pottery have been found here.

Panangod, 18½ miles east south-east of Badagara. A ruined and descreted temple, on the eastern wall of the porch of which is an inscription in unknown characters. There is an old ruined fort here.

Ponmeri, 5 miles north-cast of Badagara. In the Siva temple is an ancient inscription on a broken slab in unknown characters. The temple is very old. It was destroyed by Tippu's soldiers.

Viyyur, 10 miles south of Badagara. In the Maralur temple there is an inscription. There is another in the Pantalayini temple and one in the deserted temple of Talayil.

MAHE AND THE ADJOINING ALDEES.

The French settlement of Mahe is situated in Lat. 11° 41′ 50° N., and Long. 75° 34′ 25° E. to the south of the mouth of the river Mahe with a roomy harbour whose rocky bar admits vessels up to 70 tons. Vessels may anchor off Mahe in 5 fathoms, with the flag-staff east-north-east and 2 miles from shore.

Mahe consists of two portions, the one lying on the left bank of the river at its junction with the sea, the other lies inland on the opposite side of the river, and is a narrow strip of land touching at one point the small river which debouches at Tellicherry.

The population in 1871 was 8,492. The pre ent population is 8,383, of whom 191 are Christians, 6,340 Hindus, and 1,852 Mappillas. The yuperfic al area of Mahe proper restored to the Fr nch on the 23d February 1817 was 1,445 acres, being 1,329 acres of lands under cultivation

MARK AND THE ADJOINING ALDERS

The French settlement of Mahe is situated in Lat. 11° 41° 50° K., and Long. 75° 34° 25° K. to the south of the mouth of the river Mahe with a rosmy harbour whose rocky bar admits ressels up to 70 tons. Vessels may anchor off Mahe in 5 fathoms, with the flag-staff east-north-east and 2 miles from shore.

Make consists of two portions, the one lying on the left bank of the river at its junction with the sea, the other lies inland on the opposite side of the river, and is a narrow strip of land touching at one point the small river which debouches at Tellicherry.

The population is 1871 was 8.492. The pre-ent population is 8,383, of whom 191 are Christians. 6,340 Hindus, and 1,852 Mappillas. The superfic al area of Make proper rectored to the Pr such on the 23rd Polaracy 1817 was 1.445 acres, being 1,329 acres of lands under cultivation

and 116 acres of public lands. It is about 4 miles to the south of Tellicherry. The restitution of the outlying aldees (villages) of—

(1) Chalakkara,

(3) Chembra and (4) Pandakkal,

(2) Pallur.

or what is collectively called Nalutara, on 14th November 1853, enlarged the posses s on to 5 square miles in extent.

The dosams constituting the settlement are-

he do-ams constituting the sets of the do-ams constituting the sets of the do-ams of t

(6) Valavil. (13) Chembra. (14) Pandakkal. (14) Pandakkal.

Mahe was at first a place of considerable importance and trade, but after wards, having fallen so frequently into the hands of the English, the sottlement and its trade suffered: and in 1782 its fortifications were not only razed to the ground, but the town was almost entirely burnt. Most of the chief buildings in M.he are picturesquely situated on the bank close to the river mouth. The site is hilly, but densely covered with eccount trees. Mahe is celebrated for the fertility of its soil and the salubrity of its climate. It is in charge of a Chief de Service subordinate to Pondicherry. There is a Roman Catholic chapel to which a large numbe of devotees are annually attracted from different and distant parts on the occasion of a festival on the 15th of October every year. There are three boys' schools and one girls' school. There is also a British Post office and a long wooden bridge maintained by the Malabar District Board across the Mahe river. The coast road from Beypore to Tellicherry and Cannanore passes through Mahe.

There is a temple called Kilakke Puttalatt Bhagavati temple of note in Mahe. Here a festival takes place every year in Kumbham (February-March), when more than 5,000 people assemble from different places on North Malabar.

Close to Mahe, at Kallayi in British territory, there is a British Sea Customs Superintendent. Round Mahe there are four land customs chowkies with a preventive police establishment for guarding the frontier against the smuggling of dutable goods, such as liquor, arms, ammunition, and military stores, opium and salt.

Of the four outlying aldees or villages restored to the French, Chalakkara, Pallur and Chembra formed the demens of the Nambiyars of Iruvalinad and Pandakkal of Kurungott Nayar, and the four villages together constituted the amsam of Nalutara in Kottayam taluk. In obodience to Extract from Minutes of Consultation, the Board of Revenue, in their Proceedings, dated 28th September 1846, directed the delivery to the French Government of the villages of Chalakkara, Pallur, Chembra, Pandakkal, as also the three detached points called Fort St. George and the great and small Kallayi. These were accordingly handed over by Mr. J. D. Robinson, Head Assistant Collector, to Monsieur Hayes, Chief of Mahe, on the 14th November 1853. The boundaries of the four villages were—

East.—Part of Panniyanur, Peringalam, Olavilam and Kallayi amsams.

West.-Tiruvangad and Kallayi amsams.

North.—Poniyam river and part of Panniyanur amsam.

South.—Part of Olavilam and Kallayi amsams.

Of the three detached points which communicate with each other—

North.—The strip of Kallayi lying between them and Vera Kunnu.

South and south-west.—A strip of Kallayi amsam intervening

between them and Mahe river, and a portion of Tellicherry.

East.—A mosque and precipice.

West.—A portion of Tellicherry road and a strip of Kallayi amsam intervening between them and Kanien Kunnu.